FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
7/28/2021 4:20 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/29/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100038-3
(COA No. 80396-4-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER DERRI,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATE R. HUBER
Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 587-2711
katehuber@washapp.org
wapofficemail@washapp.org

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

John Stites¹, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' published opinion. RAP 13.4.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. To assess whether it must suppress a pretrial identification, a court must first evaluate whether the identification procedure was unduly suggestive. Police unnecessarily increase the suggestibility of a montage when they include pictures that highlight a distinctive feature only the suspect has. As Judge Coburn explained in her concurrence, the police did that here when they chose to use a picture of Mr. Stites with a neck tattoo but chose not to include any other people with neck tattoos. In addition, after one witness did not identify anyone, police showed him a second montage, and Mr. Stites was the only person appearing in both. The police montages unnecessarily highlighted Mr. Stites and his distinctive neck tattoo and were impermissibly suggestive.

2. The state and federal constitutions forbid admission of any identification that resulted from an impermissibly suggestive procedure where there is a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. Courts employ the *Biggers* factors to assess this likelihood. Here, each

¹ The State charged Mr. Stites as "Christopher Lee Derri, AKA John Stites." CP 310-311. At trial, the parties used the two names interchangeably and the witnesses generally referred to the defendant as "John Stites." This brief follows suit.

witness saw the culprit's face for between only thirty seconds to three minutes, under stressful circumstances, and initially described the culprit with glaring omissions compared to Mr. Stites. The Court of Appeals erroneously excused these hallmarks of potential misidentification because the witnesses demonstrated a high level of certainty and made the identifications shortly after the incidents. The substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification following the unduly suggestive procedures compels suppression of the out-of-court and in-court identifications.

3. Even if the court properly assessed the identifications under the *Biggers* factors, this Court should hold the impermissibly suggestive nature of the procedures undermined their reliability to such an extent as to merit suppression. Washington's Due Process Clause requires clear indicia of reliability when admitting identifications. These indicia must accord with our modern understanding and empirical evidence concerning the unreliability of eyewitness identifications.²

4. Article I, section 22 requires charging documents contain all essential elements of an offense. The robbery statute provides, "force or fear must be used to obtain or retain possession of the property, or to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking." RCW 9A.56.190. This

² This Court is considering this same issue in *State v. Scabbyrobe*, Case No. 99684-9, set for consideration on the Court's August 10, 2021, motion calendar.

Court and Division Three have both held this is a requirement to prove robbery, but Division One continues to reject the inclusion of this essential element in the charging document. This split among divisions of the Court of Appeals on this important constitutional issue warrants review.

5. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, sections 3, 21, and 22 guarantee the right to present a defense, which entitles people to jury instructions on a defense supported by the evidence and the law. Mr. Stites sought a missing evidence instruction for the State's failure to preserve and present relevant videos crucial to establishing his alibi and defense. This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals denied Mr. Stites' challenge based on a mistaken belief evidence can be missing only if it is first in the possession of the State.

6. A court should order a mistrial or dismiss a charge where the State mismanages the case or fails to comply with discovery obligations and prejudices the defense. Here, the State failed to disclose a relevant video until the middle of trial. This Court should accept review because Mr. Stites demonstrated the government's mismanagement prejudiced his investigation, preparation, and trial strategy.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Chronic and debilitating health problems caused Mr. Stites' hospitalization in Harborview Medical Center from February 14-24, 2017.

RP 847-48. On February 24, 2017, Harborview released Mr. Stites to a respite center, where he remained until at least 6:15pm that day. RP 810.

Also on February 24, 2017, before the bank closed at 6pm, a white male met with Hannah Amdahl, a teller at HomeStreet Bank, to discuss opening an account. RP 449. Ms. Amdahl told police this same man later entered the bank and demanded money on March 7 and March 11, 2017. RP 447-49, 462-63, 482-83. Although Ms. Amdahl told the police this was the same man she met with two weeks before, the police did not bother to obtain surveillance videos from the bank for any date in February. RP 676-77. The surveillance system was operational, recorded 24-hours per day, and the tapes remained available for 90 days. CP 308; RP 848.

Police believed the same man who entered HomeStreet Bank on March 7 and 11 also entered Chase Bank on March 1, 2017, and demanded money. RP 401-11, 525-38. The March 1 incident lasted about one and one half to two minutes. RP 410. Neither of the two witness described the man as having a neck tattoo. RP 435, 441, 549.

The March 7 incident lasted about three minutes. RP 346. Neither Ms. Amdahl nor the other witness described the man as having a neck tattoo. RP 381, 393, 477-82. The March 11 incident lasted thirty seconds to one minute. RP 465.

An officer who saw a picture from the March 1 incident believed the man looked like Mr. Stites, so the detective created a six-person montage including a picture of Mr. Stites. RP 641-42, 750-51. Although no witness to any incident described the person as having tattoos, the detective chose to use a picture that clearly displayed Mr. Stites' large neck tattoo and not to include any other people with neck tattoos in the montages. RP 669-71; CP 51-58, 59-67, 68-75, 76-83.

After viewing the first montage, the witnesses to the March 1 incident did not identify anyone. RP 645-46. Two weeks later, the detective returned and showed the witnesses a second montage. RP 646-50. The second montage contained a different picture of Mr. Stites, who was the only person appearing in both montages and the only person with a neck tattoo in either montage. RP 647-71; CP 48, 78. After viewing Mr. Stites for the second time, one witness identified him. RP 650.

The detective showed the two witnesses to the March 7 incident a montage as well. RP 362-66, 386, 458-60. Again, Mr. Stites was the only person in the montage with any visible tattoos. RP 386, 393, 482. Both witnesses identified Mr. Stites. RP 362-66, 386, 458-60.

The court denied Mr. Stites' motion to suppress all of the out-of-court and in-court identifications. RP 106-11. The Court of Appeals affirmed without considering the suggestiveness of the procedures because

it found no substantial likelihood of misidentification. Slip op. at 16-23. Judge Coburn issued a concurring opinion in which she agreed there was little likelihood of misidentification but found the montages unnecessarily highlighted Mr. Stites, were impermissibly suggestive, and represented “steps backward in the continuing quest to avoid wrongful convictions.” Slip op. at 42.

D. ARGUMENT

1. The police’s use of impermissibly suggestive procedures that created a substantial likelihood of misidentification implicates due process and is an issue of substantial public interest.

The Due Process Clause protects against unnecessarily suggestive identification procedures. *Perry v. New Hampshire*, 565 U.S. 228, 238-39, 132 S. Ct. 716, 181 L. Ed. 2d 694 (2012); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3. Identifications resulting from procedures that are “so impermissibly suggestive as to give rise to a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification” violate due process of law and require exclusion. *State v. Vickers*, 148 Wn.2d 91, 118, 59 P.3d 58 (2002).

Suggestive procedures “increase the likelihood of misidentification.” *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188, 198, 93 S. Ct. 375, 34 L. Ed. 2d 401 (1972). “[M]istaken eyewitness identification is a leading cause of wrongful conviction.” *State v. Riofta*, 166 Wn.2d 358, 371, 209 P.3d 467 (2009) (citing Brandon L. Garrett, *Judging Innocence*, 108

Colum. L. Rev. 55, 60 (2008)). Where a suggestive procedure cannot ensure reliability, courts must suppress the resulting identification. *Mason v. Brathwaite*, 432 U.S. 98, 114, 97 S. Ct. 2243, 53 L. Ed. 2d 140 (1977).

Here, each identification was made after police showed the witnesses a photomontage in which Mr. Stites “bears a clearly visible neck tattoo” and in which Mr. Stites is “the *only* person in the montage bearing a visible tattoo.” Slip op. at 38 (Coburn, J., concurring) (emphasis in original). In addition, police showed one witness two different montages in which Mr. Stites was the *only* person who appeared in both *and* was also the *only* person with a clearly visible neck tattoo in either montage. CP 57, 78; RP 107-08. Finally, police showed one of the witnesses a single photo of a person they suspected as the perpetrator, from a different incident, before they showed him the montage with Mr. Stites. CP 302-04. Each of these unnecessary and unsanctioned actions rendered the identifications impermissibly suggestive.

As Judge Coburn explains in her concurrence, using pictures where Mr. Stites was the only person with a neck tattoo undoubtedly highlighted Mr. Stites and drew the witnesses’ attention to his photo, rendering the identification procedures unduly suggestive. Slip op. at 37-42. The police “chose to create a montage where the suspect visibly stood out from the others,” despite knowing Mr. Stites was the suspect and that he had a

distinctive neck tattoo. Slip op. at 39. “[T]his distinctive difference directed undue attention to Derri and, thus, rendered the identification procedure impermissibly suggestive.” *Id.*

The majority declined to opine on the impermissibly suggestive nature of the identification procedures. Slip op. at 17. But as Judge Coburn properly concludes, the prosecution’s misunderstanding of appropriate procedures and the trial court’s incorrect ruling “dangerously suggest that distinct differences between photos in a montage are permissible as long as no witness identified the suspect by that distinguishing feature.” Slip op. at 41 (Coburn, J., concurring). This improper and “dangerous[.]” misinterpretation affirming the admission of identifications resulting from impermissibly suggestive procedures merits review. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

The Court should also find the trial court erred in admitting the identifications because, contrary to the Court of Appeals’ opinion, the *Biggers* factors demonstrate that the impermissibly suggestive identification procedures created a substantial risk of irreparable misidentification.³ *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188, 196-97, 93 S. Ct. 375, 34 L. Ed. 2d 401 (1972).

³ “The *Biggers* factors” includes: (1) the opportunity of the witness to view the culprit; (2) the witness’ degree of attention; (3) the accuracy of the witness’ prior description of the person; (4) the level of certainty the witness demonstrates; and (5) the length of time between the crime and the procedure. *Biggers*, 409 U.S. at 199-200.

Each witness observed the person who demanded money for only a very brief time during which the person's face was partially obscured. CP 29-30, 278; RP 346, 410, 465. In addition, the circumstances of each robbery created extreme stress, and the witnesses admitted to being nervous and scared. CP 298; RP 391, 729, 742.

Experiencing stress at the time a witness views the culprit detracts from the witness' ability to pay attention to the person's face or other features. Such emotional experiences impair a person's ability to remember details such as facial features. *State v. Scabbyrobe*, 16 Wn. App. 2d 870, 897, 482 P.3d 301 (2021) (Fearing, J., dissenting); Robin L. Kaplan et. al, *Emotion and False Memory*, 8 *Emotion Rev.* 1, 8 (Jan. 2016). Contrary to the opinion, these factors weigh in favor of excluding the identification under the first two *Biggers* factors. Slip op. at 18-22.

The Court of Appeals also ignored glaring inaccuracies between the witnesses' prior descriptions of the perpetrator and Mr. Stites, namely: No witness described the robber as having a neck tattoo. CP 11-13, 277-307; RP 381-82, 393, 477-82, 533, 546-49. Despite this fact, once the witnesses observed the photomontages that suggestively highlighted Mr. Stites, they added this detail to their description of the perpetrator where they previously failed to describe it. Not only did this procedure make the photomontages unduly suggestive, Slip op. at 39 (Coburn, J., concurring),

but the absence of this feature from any of the witnesses' prior descriptions of the perpetrator also creates a discrepancy that weighs against the reliability of the identifications. *Brathwaite*, 432 U.S. at 115.

Nor do the witnesses' self-declared certainty in their identifications save the flawed procedures. "[A]t least one court and numerous commentators have declared the witness' degree of certainty in making the identification as a worthless indicator that he is correct." *Scabbyrobe*, 16 Wn. App. 2d at 894 (Fearing, J., dissenting) (citing *People v. Anderson*, 389 Mich. 155, 205 N.W.2d 461, 493-94 (1973); Frank O'Connor, "*That's the Man*": A Sobering Study of Eyewitness Identification and the Polygraph, 49 St. John's L. Rev. 1, 4-6 (1974); Felice J. Levine & June Louin Tapp, *The Psychology of Criminal Identification: The Gap from Wade to Kirby*, 121 U. Pa. L. Rev. 1079 (1973); Patrick M. Wall, *Eye-Witness Identification In Criminal Cases* 15-16 (1965)).

This Court should follow the lead of California's Supreme Court, which recently acknowledged, "There is near unanimity in the empirical research that under most circumstances, witness confidence or certainty is not a good indicator of identification accuracy." *People v. Lemcke*, 11 Cal.5th 644, 278 Cal. Rptr.3d 849, 486 P.3d 1077, 1093 (2021). The court relied on the evidence demonstrating the absence of a correlation between witness certainty and accuracy, as well as the documented cases of the role

of mistaken identification in wrongful convictions, to order the state judicial council to reevaluate the jury instructions addressing identification. *Id.* at 1092 n.13, 1095.

The Court of Appeals misapplied the *Biggers* factors, which weigh in favor of exclusion. The totality of the circumstances fail to demonstrate the witnesses were not influenced by the unduly suggestive police procedures. The procedures created a substantial risk of irreparable misidentification. Permitting such impermissibly suggestive identification procedures increases the risk of misidentification and is a “step[] backwards in the continuing quest to avoid wrongful convictions.” Slip op. at 42 (Coburn, J., concurring).

This is an important issue meriting this Court’s attention because, as Judge Coburn recognized:

It is beyond dispute that eyewitness misidentification plays a role in wrongful convictions and that developing neuroscience behind memory raises legitimate questions about the weight factfinders should give to eyewitness confidence levels in the reliability of their identifications.

Id. Rather than take that “step[] backwards in the continuing quest to avoid wrongful convictions,” this Court should accept review, hold the trial court erred in denying the motion to suppress, and remand with a directive to suppress the identifications. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

Even if this Court finds the *Biggers* factors do not demonstrate a substantial likelihood of irreparable identification, this Court should accept review to craft a different set of factors to protect a person’s right to due process. “Our state constitution’s due process clause provides even greater protection of individual rights in certain circumstances.” *State v. Blake*, 197 Wn.2d 170, 181, 481 P.3d 521 (2021). These factors should be congruent with our modern understanding of memory and factors that both inhibit and increase reliability of identifications. The *Biggers* factors are insufficient to guard against the likelihood of misidentification and the consequent wrongful convictions. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

2. This Court should accept review to resolve the division split over the essential elements of robbery and because Court of Appeals erroneously held the information was constitutionally adequate despite its failure to allege every element of robbery.

This Court should accept review to resolve a division split, clarify the essential elements of robbery, and reaffirm that a charging document is constitutionally deficient where it fails to allege every essential element of the crime.

Constitutional notice of the “nature and cause” of charges against the accused requires the charging document to contain “all essential elements of the crime, statutory or otherwise, and the particular facts supporting them.” Const. art. I, § 22; *State v. Hugdahl*, 195 Wn.2d 319, 324, 458 P.3d 760 (2020); U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV. Here, a jury

convicted Mr. Stites of three counts of first degree robbery, but the State never pled the essential statutory element that “force or fear must be used to obtain or retain possession of the property, or to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking” in the information. RCW 9A.56.190; CP 10-11.

Despite the holdings of cases from this Court and Division Three and contrary to the language of the robbery statutes, Division One rejected Mr. Stites’ challenge to the information and held that “force or fear must be used to obtain or retain possession of the property, or to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking” is not an essential element of robbery. Slip Op. at 6-13. Instead, the Court relied on a Division One case to rule the language in question “merely defines” the elements of robbery but is not itself an element of robbery. Slip op. at 9-10 (discussing *State v. Phillips*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 368, 373-74, 377, 444 P.3d 51 (2019)).

The test for whether a fact is an essential element is whether the fact is essential to proving the illegality of the offense. *State v. Pry*, 194 Wn.2d 745, 755, 452 P.3d 536 (2019). The location of a necessary fact within the statutory scheme and the statute’s label of definition versus element does not determine whether a fact is an essential element. *Id.* at 756-57. To determine if a fact is an essential element for purposes of the information, courts look to whether the State must prove the fact for the evidence to be sufficient of the crime charged. *Id.* at 755. Essential

elements are “the facts that the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt to establish that the defendant committed the charged crime.” *State v. Recuenco*, 163 Wn.2d 428, 434, 180 P.3d 1276 (2008).

This Court has already held the force or fear element is essential to proving the very illegality of the offense. Both *Johnson* and *Allen* held to prove a robbery, the prosecution must prove a person used “force or fear . . . to obtain or retain possession of the property, or to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking.” RCW 9A.56.190; *State v. Johnson*, 155 Wn.2d 609, 610-11, 121 P.3d 91 (2005); *State v. Allen*, 159 Wn.2d 1, 9, 147 P.3d 581 (2006). Division Three has held the same. *State v. Todd*, 200 Wn. App. 879, 885-86, 403 P.3d 867 (2017).

In *Johnson*, a person took items from a store without paying and left the store. 155 Wn.2d at 610. When security confronted him in the parking lot, he abandoned the property, tried to flee, and punched the security guard. *Id.* This Court found the incident did not constitute a robbery because, while the person used force, he did not use force to obtain or retain the property or to overcome resistance to the taking. *Id.* at 611. “[T]he force must relate to the taking or retention of the property, either as force used directly in the taking or retention or as force used to prevent or overcome resistance ‘to the taking.’” *Id.* Because the State failed to prove that element, the Court reversed the conviction. *Id.*

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