FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/26/2021 12:38 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 100038-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER DERRI,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

SCOTT M. O'TOOLE Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

Rules and Regulations

Washington State:

CrR 8.3	
RAP 13.4	

A. <u>ISSUES</u>

1. Should this Court deny review where the trial court exercised sound discretion in admitting identification evidence that was not impermissibly suggestive and where the totality of the circumstances showed the identifications were reliable?

2. Should this Court deny review where the information contained all the essential elements of first-degree robbery, there was more than adequate notice of the charges, and the defendant has failed to demonstrate prejudice?

3. Should this Court deny review where the trial court properly declined to instruct the jury regarding missing evidence that was never in the control of the State and where any error was harmless?

4. Should this Court deny review where the trial court exercised sound discretion in denying a motion for a mistrial or dismissal based on a discovery violation where the defendant suffered no prejudice?

B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

A full statement of the relevant facts was set forth by the court of appeals and in the State's response below. Those facts are summarized as follows and supplemented in the argument sections herein as they pertain.

Between March 1 and 11, 2017, Christopher Derri robbed three banks in Seattle. Two of the robberies involved the same bank and the same witness and were committed four days apart. He was identified by name and in photographic montages before the robbery spree ran its course.

The State charged Derri, also known as John Stites,¹ with three counts of first-degree robbery, occurring on March 1, 2017 against Chase Bank; and on March 7 and March 11, 2017, against HomeStreet Bank. CP 310-11; RCW 9A.56.200(1)(b), 9A.56.190. A jury convicted Stites as charged. CP 361-63. The court imposed a standard range sentence. CP 364-73.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

- 1. REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE, AS THE COURT OF APPEALS UNANIMOUSLY AGREED, THE IDENTIFICATION PROCEDURE USED DID NOT CREATE A SUBSTANTIAL LIKELIHOOD OF IRREPARABLE MISIDENTIFICATION.
 - a. There Are Significant Discrepancies Between Stites' Recitation Of The Facts And The Evidence At Trial.

Stites claims that impermissibly suggestive identification

procedures in the presentation of photo montages to the witnesses resulted

¹ As noted by the petitioner, the parties used these two names interchangeably at trial and the witnesses generally referred to the defendant as "John Stites." Pet. at 1 n.1. Indeed, the defendant was kind enough to provide his name, "John Stites," to one of the witnesses when he visited the HomeStreet bank in late February 2017. That witness provided the name to the police when the defendant returned on March 7, 2017, to rob the bank. The petitioner continues to use "Stites" in his petition for review. Thus, the respondent will as well.

in a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. Pet. at 1. He complains of "glaring inaccuracies" between the witnesses' descriptions of the robber and Stites; "namely: No witness described the robber as having a neck tattoo." Pet. at 9.

Stites' claims are belied by the record of the trial. There are, indeed, "glaring inaccuracies" presented in the petition for review, but they rest with Stites' selective recitation and characterization of the facts, not with the witnesses' identification of him as the robber. Examples abound, but those highlighted below give this Court a flavor of the discrepancies between Stites' version of events and the witnesses' identification of him in the record as the robber.

• <u>Stites' suggestion that he could not be the person who spoke with</u> <u>a teller at the HomeStreet Bank on February 24, 2017 – and who</u> <u>later linked him to the robberies on March 7 and 11 – because he</u> <u>was either at Harborview Medical Center or a respite home at the</u> <u>time the teller testified she met with him</u>. Pet. at 3-4.

The teller, Hannah Amdahl, was uncertain about the February 24 date. She could not recall exactly when Stites walked into the bank in late February and inquired about opening an account. RP 375, 450, 469, 731. Stites fails to mention that although Amdahl made a note of his visit at the time, she only later guessed ("maybe the next week") that it might have been February 24. RP 454. In fact, her notation regarding the date included a question mark ("?") indicating her uncertainty. RP 454; Ex. 11. It could have been a different day. RP 470. Nevertheless, Amdahl immediately recognized Stites as the person who had spoken to her in late February "right when he was walking up to the teller line" to rob the bank the first time, on March 7. RP 448, 454. "I saw the same face." RP 454, 489. Moreover, she recalled the specifics of their conversation in late-February and even wrote down his full name – "John Stites" – while speaking to him. RP 450-54; Ex. 11.

Also unmentioned by Stites, who claims he was suffering from "[c]hronic and debilitating health problems" when he was released from Harborview to the respite facility on February 24, is Amdahl's testimony that Stites appeared emaciated during his visit to the bank in late-February. In fact, he stated to her "you can probably tell I've been sick lately." Pet. at 3-4; RP 451, 471. In addition, neither Harborview nor the respite center is a lock-down facility. RP 797, 816-17, 848. Despite his claim of ill health, Stites was absent from the respite center without leave several times before being discharged on February 27 because he was not engaging in his care. RP 839-40.

• <u>Stites' claim that "[e]ach witness observed the person who</u> <u>demanded money for only a very brief time during which the</u> <u>person's face was partially obscured."</u> Pet. at 9.

Contrary to Stites' assertion, the witnesses expressed no difficulty in seeing his face during the robberies. When Stites entered the Chase Bank on March 1, 2017, he was wearing a hooded sweatshirt with the hood up. His face was visible. RP 530. David Fletcher, the bank manager, was able to provide a detailed description of his face: "He had very gaunt, angular features, eyes a little sunken in, you know, high cheekbones, defined chin." RP 530, 548; CP 11. Jacob Price, who also was in the bank that day, stated that Stites' hood "[d]idn't really cover his face too much or anything like that." RP 407-08. He described Stites' face: "sunken-in cheeks," "pale," "just a little bit of a five o'clock shadow." RP 407, 431.

Similarly, Amdahl reported that during the first robbery, on March 7, Stites' face was visible and unobscured despite having his hood up and cinched. RP 448. Andrew Hilen, a bank employee who also was present during the robbery, stated that Stites' face was visible ("all of it"). RP 346.

• <u>The witnesses identified Stites from the montages with an</u> <u>extremely high degree of certainty</u>.

On March 10, Detective Len Carver showed the Chase Bank witnesses an updated montage that included a more recent, and starkly different, photo of Stites than was included in the first montage. RP 657.² Fletcher, the Chase Bank manager who had the most contact with Stites on March 1, identified him with 90% certainty and described the photo as a "dead ringer" for the robber. RP 22, 544, 650; Ex. 18; CP 14.

² Indeed, the photos of Stites appear to be of two different men. <u>See</u> Brief of Respondent, at 19; cf. Ex. 17 (image 5) and Ex. 18 (image 1).

Amdahl identified Stites' photograph on March 8, the day following the first robbery, with 100% certainty. Ex. 12; RP 458-60. She again immediately recognized Stites during the March 11 robbery. RP 578. Hilen, who was with Amdahl during the March 7 robbery, identified Stites' photo with 98-99% certainty. RP 366.

There is little reason to doubt the accuracy of Amdahl's identification. She had an extended conversation with Stites in late-February regarding opening an account, she recognized him on March 7 when he robbed the HomeStreet Bank the first time, she identified him with 100% certainty the following day, March 8, in the photo montage, and Stites returned three days later, on March 11, to rob the bank a second time. In fact, Amdahl's certainty was such that she activated the silent alarm on March 11 as he was entering the bank, *before* he robbed it. RP 462-67, 578.

At trial, Fletcher, Amdahl, Hilen and Dustin Foss (who was present for the March 11 robbery) all identified Stites as the person who robbed them. RP 340, 449, 528, 581.

• <u>Stites' claim that none of the bank employees who witnessed the</u> robbery of HomeStreet Bank on March 7 or the Chase Bank on March 11 described the man as having a neck tattoo. Pet. at 4.

As noted above, although Stites was wearing his sweatshirt with the hood up and cinched, witnesses had no difficulty seeing his face. The hood would, however, have covered the tattoo on his lower neck. In fact, "it was pulled tight so that you could only see his face, and his face was sunken in eyes and cheekbones." RP 448 (Amdahl).

> b. Stites' Argument That This Court Should Ignore Precedent, His Misreading Of The Concurrence Below And His Reliance On A Dissenting Opinion In A Case Not On Point Render Baseless His Claim That The Identification Procedure Utilized Here Created A Substantial Likelihood Of Irreparable Misidentification.

The State respectfully asks this Court to deny review. As demonstrated below, the Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with, not in conflict with, this Court's statements of the law. To the extent there is a different approach taken by another Court of Appeals, the decision here adheres to this Court's prior rulings. There is no significant question of law under either the federal or State constitutions; indeed, the issues raised by Stites are factual in nature and challenge the trial court's exercise of its discretion to admit evidence. Finally, there is no issue of substantial public interest that compels review by this Court. RAP 13.4.

Despite Stites' claim to the contrary, there simply is no issue of substantial public interest. Pet. at 6. <u>Cf. In re Pers. Restraint of Arnold</u>, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 408 P.3d 1091, 1093 (2017) (adoption of a horizontal *stare decisis* rule is an issue of substantial public interest that merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(4)); <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Williams</u>, 197 Wn.2d 1001, 484 P.3d 445, 447 (2021) (chaos wrought by COVID-19 at heavily affected correctional facilities, and the Department of Corrections' efforts in responding to the constantly changing threat, constitutes an ongoing issue of substantial public interest within the meaning of RAP 13.4(b)(4)); <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Flippo</u>, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413, 413-14 (2016) (decision regarding the imposition of legal financial obligations has the potential to affect a number of proceedings and is an issue of substantial public interest if review will avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue).

Stites cites to Judge Coburn's opinion below in support of his argument that "the montages unnecessarily highlighted Mr. Stites [and] were impermissibly suggestive[.]" Pet. at 6. Of note, however, Judge Coburn's was a *concurring* opinion and stated, upfront, "I agree with the majority that *under the totality of the circumstances, the photo identification procedures used by law enforcement did not create a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.*" <u>State v. Derri</u> [Stites], 17 Wn. App. 2d 376, 412, 486 P.3d 901 (2021). Further, Stites' proposal that this "Court should *also* find that the trial court erred in admitting the identification" misstates Judge Coburn's concurrence. Pet. at 8 (emphasis added). Judge Coburn concluded to the contrary: "Thus, I concur with the majority that the trial court did not err by admitting evidence of the out-of-court and in-court identifications of [Stites]." <u>Id.</u>

Perhaps Stites' greatest misstep is his reliance upon the dissenting opinion in <u>State v. Scabbyrobe</u>, 16 Wn. App. 2d 870, 482 P.3d 301 (2021). <u>Scabbyrobe</u> involved a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to the victim's identification of her as the person who stole his car. <u>Id.</u> at 872. Applying the factors set forth in <u>Neil v. Biggers</u>, 409 U.S. 188, 198, 93 S. Ct. 375, 34 L. Ed. 2d 401 (1972), the Court of Appeals, Division III, found that the identification procedure was not unduly suggestive. <u>Id.</u> at 875-76. As a result, the trial court would likely have denied any motion to suppress, rendering Scabbyrobe's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel meritless. Id. at 878.

Stites, however, focuses on Judge Fearing's dissent for the proposition that the identifications here were flawed and that the <u>Biggers</u> standard should be abandoned. But <u>Scabbyrobe</u> has virtually no application to the present case. It involved not a photographic montage, but a one-person show-up following the theft of the victim's car. <u>Id.</u> at 873. In addition, Judge Fearing's dissent focused on the issue of crossracial identification (the victim initially described the Native American defendant as Hispanic), which lends itself to the greater possibility of error. <u>Id.</u> at 879. Cross-racial identification is not an issue in this case. Even then, Stites overstates Judge Fearing's reasoning. He cites to the dissent, for example, that emotional experiences such as being robbed "impair a person's ability to remember details such as facial features." Pet. at 9 (citing <u>Scabbyrobe</u>, 16 Wn. App. 2d at 897). But Judge Fearing was less dogmatic than Stites suggests, writing that "under circumstances of emergency or emotional stress[,] [t]he witness' recollection of the stranger *can* be easily distorted by the circumstances.[.]" <u>Scabbyrobe</u>, 16 Wn. App. 2d at 896 (Fearing, J., dissenting) (emphasis added).

Fundamentally, Stites' argument rests upon a claim that the Court of Appeals simply misapplied the factors set forth in <u>Biggers</u>, 409 U.S. 188, in concluding that there was no substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. Pet. at 2, 11. As detailed above, however, he supports his argument with factual assertions uncorroborated by the record.

Finally, Stites argues in support of his claim of substantial public interest that this Court should ignore precedent; specifically, "this Court should accept review to craft a different set of factors to protect a person's right to due process. 'Our state constitution's due process clause provides even greater protection of individual rights in certain circumstances.'" Pet. at 12 (quoting <u>State v. Blake</u>, 197 Wn.2d 170, 181, 481 P.3d 521 (2021)). But <u>Blake</u> concerned the general police power of the Legislature to criminalize the unintentional, unknowing possession of controlled substances. <u>Id.</u> at 183-85. Here, by contrast, the issue is factual in nature and goes to the trial court's exercise of its discretion in admitting evidence. By Stites' reasoning, every case will qualify for review by this Court simply by invoking <u>Blake</u> and the incantation of "greater due process protection" regardless of the circumstances.

Stites' request that this Court abandon long-standing precedent "fails to appreciate the doctrine of *stare decisis*." See State v. Kier, 164 Wn.2d 798, 804, 194 P.3d 212 (2008) (concluding that where the State suggested that the court not follow the court's prior decision, the State was not appreciating the doctrine of *stare decisis*). Further, he offers no analysis under <u>State v. Gunwall</u>, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986), to support his argument that this Court should abandon the <u>Biggers</u> jurisprudence under the banner of "greater due process protection." Where a party fails to engage in a <u>Gunwall</u> analysis, a reviewing court will consider the claim under federal constitutional law. <u>State v. Fire</u>, 145 Wn.2d 152, 163, 34 P.3d 1218 (2001).

> 2. REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE STITES HAD MORE THAN ADEQUATE NOTICE OF THE ELEMENTS OF FIRST-DEGREE ROBBERY AND HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE ANY PREJUDICE.

Stites next argues that "this Court should accept review to resolve the division split over the essential elements of robbery and because [the] Court of Appeals erroneously held the information was constitutionally adequate[.]" Pet. at 12. Stites' arguments fail.

To satisfy Due Process and afford an accused notice of the nature and cause of the accusation against him or her, all "essential elements" of the crime, whether statutory or non-statutory, must be pleaded in the charging document and proved beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v.</u> <u>Kjorsvik</u>, 117 Wn.2d 93, 97, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). The information here, however, was not missing an essential element of the crime. There is no requirement that "force or fear" be pleaded in the charging document.

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